The following redline/strikeouts show substantive changes to the Eleventh
Circuit criminal instructions that were posted in March 2020. An article
regarding these changes can be found in the trialdex Blog at
https://www.trialdex.com/blog.htm.
B8.1
Conjunctively Charged Counts
Where a statute specifies multiple alternative ways in which an
offense may be committed, the indictment may allege the multiple ways in
the conjunctive, that is, by using the word "and." If only one of the
alternatives is proved beyond a reasonable doubt, that is sufficient for
conviction, so long as you agree unanimously as to that alternative.
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
"[I]t is well-established . . . that a disjunctive statute may be pleaded
conjunctively and proved disjunctively." United States v. Williams, 790
F.3d 1240, 1245 n.2 (11th Cir. 2015) (quoting United States v. Haymes,
610 F.2d 309, 310 (5th Cir. 1980) (citing United States v. QuirozCarrasco, 565 F.2d 1328, 1331 (5th Cir. 1978)); see also Bonner v. City
of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (adopting as binding
precedent all decisions of the former Fifth Circuit issued on or before
September 30, 1981).
In other words, "when a defendant is charged in an indictment
conjunctively with alternative means or alternative mental states, any
one of which will satisfy an element of the crime, the 'jury instruction
may properly be framed in the disjunctive' without a constructive
amendment taking place." United States v. Mozie, 752 F.3d 1271, 1284
(11th Cir. 2014) (quoting United States v. Simpson, 228 F.3d 1294, 1300
(11th Cir.
2000)). "The rule applies not only to alternative acts that satisfy a
statutory element, but also to alternative mental states that may satisfy
an element." Id. (citing Haymes, 610 F.2d at 310-11).
"This is not only a permissible practice but also a common one." Id.
(quoting United States v. Howard, 742 F.3d 1334, 1343 n.3 (11th Cir.
2014)) ("Prosecutors can and frequently do . . . charge alternative
elements in the conjunctive and prove one or more of them in the
disjunctive, which is constitutionally permissible."); see also Simpson,
228 F.3d at 1300.

O13.1
General Conspiracy Charge
18 U.S.C. § 371
It's a separate Federal crime for anyone to conspire or agree with
someone else to do something that would be another Federal crime if it
was actually carried out.
A "conspiracy" is an agreement by two or more people to commit an
unlawful act. In other words, it is a kind of "partnership" for criminal
purposes. Every member of a conspiracy becomes the agent or partner of
every other member.
The Government does not have to prove that all the people named in
the indictment were members of the plan, or that those who were members
made any kind of formal agreement.
The Government does not have to prove that the members planned
together all the details of the plan or the "overt acts" that the
indictment charges would be carried out in an effort to commit the
intended crime.
The heart of a conspiracy is the making of the unlawful plan itself
followed by the commission of any overt act. The Government does not have
to prove that the conspirators succeeded in carrying out the plan.
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) two or more persons in some way agreed to try to accomplish a shared
and unlawful plan;
(2) the Defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the plan and willfully
joined in it;
(3) during the conspiracy, one of the conspirators knowingly engaged in
at least one overt act as described in the indictment; and
(4) the overt act was committed at or about the time alleged and with the
purpose of carrying out or accomplishing some object of the conspiracy.
An "overt act" is any transaction or event, even one that may be
entirely innocent when viewed alone, that a conspirator commits to
accomplish some object of the conspiracy
A person may be a conspirator without knowing all the details of the
unlawful plan or the names and identities of all the other alleged
conspirators.
If the Defendant played only a minor part in the plan but had a
general understanding of the unlawful purpose of the plan and willfully
joined in the plan on at least one occasion, that's sufficient for you to
find the Defendant guilty.
But simply being present at the scene of an event or merely
associating with certain people and discussing common goals and interests
doesn't establish proof of a conspiracy. A person who doesn't know about
a conspiracy but happens to act in a way that advances some purpose of
one doesn't automatically become a
conspirator.
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 371 provides:

If two or more persons conspire... to commit any offense against the
United States... and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the
object of the conspiracy, each [shall be guilty of an offense against the
United States].
Maximum Penalty: Five (5) years imprisonment and applicable fine.
See United States v. Horton, 646 F.2d 181, 186 (5th Cir. 1981).
The committeeCommittee believes that the general definition of
"willfully" in Basic Instruction 9.1A would usually apply to this crime.
The general conspiracy statute, 18 U.S.C. § 371, expressly makes an
overt act an element of the offense. A conspiracy charged under other
conspiracy statutes may not include an overt act as an element. See,
e.g., 18 U.S.C. §§ 286, 1349, 1956(h), 1962(d); and 21 U.S.C. §§ 846,
963. To the extent that district courts are relying on this instruction
as guidance for drafting an instruction for a different conspiracy
offense, the Committee cautions that the United States Supreme Court has
held in several circumstances that proof of an overt act is not required
when a conspiracy statute does not expressly contain an overt act
requirement. See Whitfield v. United States, 543 U.S. 209, 214 (2005)
(finding no overt act requirement in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)); Salinas v.
United States, 522 U.S. 52, 63 (1997) (same as to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d));
United States v. Shabani 513 U.S. 10, 11 (1994) (same as to 21 U.S.C. §
846). Reference to instructions related to those statutes may provide
useful guidance. See O74.5, O75.2, O100.

O24.2
Bribery Concerning a
Program Receiving Federal Funds
18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B)
It's a Federal crime for anyone who is an agent of a[n]
[organization] [State government] [local government] [Indian tribal
government] [any agency thereof] receiving significant benefits under a
Federal assistance program, to corruptly [solicit or demand] [accept]
[agree to accept] anything of value from any person when the agent
intends to be influenced or rewarded in connection with certain
transactions of the [organization] [government] [agency].
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant was an agent of [name of entity claimed by the
government to be the affected entity];
(2) [same name of affected entity as above] was a[n]
[organization] [State government] [local government] [Indian tribal
government] [any agency thereof] that received in any one-year period
benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program involving [a grant]
[a contract] [a subsidy] [a loan] [a guarantee]
[insurance] [other form of Federal assistance];
(3) during thatthe one-year period the Defendant [solicited or demanded]
accepted] [agreed to accept] a thing valued at approximately
$ ________$______ from someone other than [entity's name];
(4) in return for the [acceptance] [agreement], the Defendant intended to
be influenced or rewarded for a transaction or series of transactions of
[entity's name] involving something worth $5,000
or more; and
(5) the Defendant acted corruptly
.
To act "corruptly" means to act voluntarily, deliberately, and
dishonestly to either accomplish an unlawful end or result or to use an
unlawful method or means to accomplish an otherwise lawful end or result.
An "agent" is a person authorized to act on behalf of another
person, organization, or a government and, in the case of an organization
or government, includes a servant or employee, partner, officer, or
director.
[A "government agency" is a subdivision of the executive,
legislative, judicial, or other branch of government, including a
department, independent establishment, commission, administration,
authority, board, bureau, and a corporation or other legal entity
established and subject to control by a government or governments for the
execution of a governmental or intergovernmental program.]
["Local" means of or pertaining to a political subdivision within a
State.]

["State" means a State of the United States, the District of
Columbia, and any commonwealth, territory, or possession of the United
States.]
"In any one-year period" means a continuous period that commences
no earlier than twelve months before the commission of the offense or
that ends no later than twelve months after the commission of the
offense. Such period may include time both before and after the
commission of the offense.
It is not necessary to prove that the Defendant's conduct directly
affected the funds received by the [organization] [government] [agency]
under the Federal program.

ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B) and (b) provides:
(a) Whoever, if the circumstance described in subsection (b) of this
section exists - (1) being an agent of an organization, or of a State, local, or
Indian tribal government, or any agency thereof - (B) corruptly solicits or demands for the benefit of any person, or
accepts or agrees to accept, anything of value from any person, intending
to be influenced or rewarded in connection with any business,
transaction, or series of transactions of such organization, government,
or agency involving anything of value of $5,000 or more [shall be guilty
of an offense against the United States].
(b) The circumstance referred to in subsection (a) of this section is
that the organization, government, or agency receives, in any one-year
period, benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program involving a
grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance, or other form of
Federal assistance.
Maximum Penalty: Ten (10) years imprisonment and applicable fine.
In United States v. McNair, 605 F.3d 1152, 1188 (11th Cir. 2010), the
Eleventh Circuit held that neither § 666(a)(1)(B) nor (a)(2) requires
"that the government allege or prove an intent that a specific payment
was solicited, received, or given in exchange for a specific official
act, termed a quid pro quo." Other circuits have held the same. See,
e.g., United States v. Abbey, 560 F.3d 513, 520 (6th Cir. 2009) (stating
that "the text says nothing of a quid pro quo requirement to sustain a
conviction" and "while a quid pro quo of money for a specific
[legislative] act is sufficient to violate [§ 666(a)(1)(B) or (a)(2)], it
is not necessary") (internal quotation marks omitted); United States v.
Gee, 432 F.3d 713, 714-15 (7th Cir. 2005) (holding that "[a] quid pro quo
of money for a specific legislative act" is not necessary under §
666(a)(1)(B) and that an exchange of money for the official's "influence"
was enough").

However, defendants have argued that the Supreme Court's reasoning in
McDonnell v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 2355 (2016), which concerned an 18
U.S.C. § 201 bribery prosecution, should apply to a § 666 bribery
prosecution. Section 201, in relevant part, addresses bribes given or
received to influence an "official act" or "in return for" an "official
act." In McDonnell, the Supreme Court held that, in prosecutions for
bribery of public officials to influence official acts (18 U.S.C. § 201),
district courts should clearly define the type of conduct that
constitutes official acts. Depending upon the facts of a particular
case, McDonnell could be applicable to a § 666 prosecution.
in § 201
prosecutions.
The definition of official act is found in Offense Instruction 5.1 and
5.2.
In United States v. Eleventh Circuit has not addressed whether McDonnell
applies to § 666, but other circuits have held that it does not. See,
e.g., United States v. Suhl, 885 F.3d 1106, 1112 (8th Cir. 2018) ("Suhl
asks us to apply McDonnell to both honest-services and federalfunds
bribery. McDonnell interpreted the term 'official act' in § 201, and the
parties agree that § 201 also defines the elements of honest-services
bribery. Section 666, however, does not include the term 'official
act.'"); United States v. Boyland, 862 F.3d 279, 291 (2d Cir. 2017) ("We
do not see that the McDonnell standard applied to these counts [under §
666]."); United States v. Porter, 886 F.3d 562, 565 (6th Cir. 2018)
("Porter's reliance on McDonnell is misplaced. In McDonnell, the Supreme
Court limited the interpretation of the term 'official act' as it appears
in § 201, an entirely different statute than the one at issue here.").
In United States v. Fischer, 168 F.3d 1273, 1277 n.8 (11th Cir. 1999),
aff'd., Fischer v.
United States, 529 U.S. 667 (2000), the Court held that Medicare
disbursements are "benefits" within the meaning of the statute, and that
the Government is not required to prove a direct link between the federal
assistance and the fraudulent conduct in issue.

O24.3
Bribery of Agent of Entity
Receiving Benefits Under a
Federal Assistance Program
18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2)
It's a Federal crime for anyone to corruptly [give] [offer] [agree
to give] anything of value to anyone who is an agent of a[n]
[organization] [State government] [local government] [Indian tribal
government] [any agency thereof] receiving significant benefits under a
Federal assistance program, with the intent to reward or influence that
agent in connection with certain transactions of the [organization]
[government] [agency].
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1)that [name of agent claimed by the government to be rewarded or
influenced by the Defendant] was an agent of [name of entity claimed by
the government to be the affected entity];
(2)that [same name of affected entity as above] was a[n] [organization]
[State government] [local government] [Indian tribal government] [any
agency thereof] that received in any one-year period benefits in excess
of $10,000 under a Federal program involving [a grant] [a contract] [a
subsidy] [a loan] [a guarantee] [insurance] [other form of Federal
assistance];
(3)that during the one-year period, the Defendant [gave] [offered]
[agreed to give] something of value to [agent of entity] with the intent
to influence or reward [the agent] in connection with any business,
transaction, or series of transactions of [entity's name], involving
something of value of $5,000 or more; and
(4)that in so doing, the Defendant acted corruptly.
To act "corruptly" means to act voluntarily, deliberately, and
dishonestly to either accomplish an unlawful end or result or to use an
unlawful method or means to accomplish an otherwise lawful end or result.
An "agent" is a person authorized to act on behalf of another
person, organization, or a government and, in the case of an organization
or government, includes a servant or employee, partner, officer, or
director.
[A "government agency" is a subdivision of the executive,
legislative, judicial, or other branch of government, including a
department, independent establishment, commission, administration,
authority, board, bureau, and a corporation or other legal entity
established and subject to control by a government or governments for the
execution of a governmental or intergovernmental program.]
["Local" means of or pertaining to a political subdivision within a
State.]
["State" means a State of the United States, the District of Columbia,
and
any commonwealth, territory, or possession of the United States.]
"In any one-year period" means a continuous period that commences no
earlier than twelve months before the commission of the offense or that
ends no later than twelve months after the commission of the offense.
Such period may include time both before and after the commission of the
offense.

It is not necessary to prove that the Defendant's conduct directly
affected the funds received by the [organization] [government] [agency]
under the Federal program.
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2) provides:
(a) Whoever, if the circumstance described in subsection (b) of this
section exists - (2)corruptly gives, offers, or agrees to give anything of value to any
person, with intent to influence or reward an agent of an organization or
of a State, local or Indian tribal government, or any agency thereof, in
connection with any business, transaction, or series of transactions of
such organization, government, or agency involving anything of value of
$5,000 or more [shall be guilty of an offense against the United States].
(b) The circumstance referred to in subsection (a) of this section is
that the organization, government, or agency receives, in any one[-]year
period, benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program involving a
grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance, or other form of
Federal assistance.
Maximum Penalty: Ten years imprisonment and applicable fine.
In United States v. McNair, 605 F.3d 1152, 1188 (11th Cir. 2010), the
Eleventh Circuit held that neither § 666(a)(1)(B) nor (a)(2) requires
"that the government allege or prove an intent that a specific payment
was solicited, received, or given in exchange for a specific official
act, termed a quid pro quo." Other circuits have held the same. See,
e.g., United States v. Abbey, 560 F.3d 513, 520 (6th Cir. 2009) (stating
that "the text says nothing of a quid pro quo requirement to sustain a
conviction" and "while a quid pro quo of money for a specific
[legislative] act is sufficient to violate [§ 666(a)(1)(B) or (a)(2)], it
is not necessary") (internal quotation marks omitted); United States v.
Gee, 432 F.3d 713, 714-15 (7th Cir. 2005) (holding that "[a] quid pro quo
of money for a specific legislative act" is not necessary under §
666(a)(1)(B) and that an exchange of money for the official's "influence"
was enough").
However, defendants have argued that the Supreme Court's reasoning in
McDonnell v. United States, 136 S. Ct.
2355 (2016), which concerned an 18 U.S.C. § 201 bribery prosecution,
should apply to a § 666 bribery prosecution. Section 201, in relevant
part, addresses bribes given or received to influence an "official act"
or "in return for" an "official act." In McDonnell, the Supreme Court
held that district courts should clearly define the type of conduct that
constitutes official acts in § 201 prosecutions.
The Eleventh Circuit has not addressed in a reported decision whether
McDonnell applies to § 666, but other circuits have held that it does
not. See, e.g., United States v. Suhl, 885 F.3d 1106, 1112 (8th Cir.
2018) ("Suhl asks us to apply McDonnell to both honestservices and
federal-funds bribery. McDonnell interpreted the term 'official act' in §
201, and the parties agree that § 201 also defines the elements of
honest-services bribery. Section 666, however, does not include the term
'official act.'"); United States v. Boyland, 862 F.3d 279, 291 (2d Cir.
2017) ("We do not see that the McDonnell standard applied to these counts
[under § 666]."); United States v. Porter, 886 F.3d 562, 565 (6th Cir.
2018) ("Porter's reliance on McDonnell is misplaced. In McDonnell, the
Supreme Court limited the interpretation of the term 'official act' as it

appears in § 201, an entirely different statute than the one at issue
here.").
In United States v. Fischer, 168 F.3d 1273, 1277 n.8 (11th Cir. 1999),
aff'd., Fischer v. United States, 529 U.S. 667 (2000), the Court held
that Medicare disbursements are "benefits" within the meaning of the
statute, and that the Government is not required to prove a direct link
between the federal assistance and the fraudulent conduct in issue.

O60.1
Misuse of a Passport 18 U.S.C. § 1544
(First and Second Paragraphs)
It's a federal crime to knowingly and willfully [use] [attempt to
use] a passport issued or designed for the use of another [in violation
of the conditions or restrictions contained in the passport] [in
violation of the rules pursuant to the laws regulating the issuance of
passports].
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant [used] [attempted to use] a passport;
(2) [the passport was issued or designed for the use of someone other
than the defendant] [the use or attempted use violated the conditions or
restrictions contained in the passport] [the use or attempted use
violated the rules governing the issuance of passports]; (3) the
Defendant acted knowingly and willfully[.] [and]
[(4) the Defendant did so [to facilitate an act of international
terrorism] [to facilitate a drug-trafficking crime].]
[To "facilitate" an act simply means to help or further the
accomplishment of
that act.]
[An "act of international terrorism" means (1) a criminal act that is
dangerous to human life, (2) appears to be intended to intimidate or
coerce a civilian population, or to influence the policy of a government
by intimidation or coercion, or to affect the conduct of a government by
assassination or kidnapping, and (3) occurs outside the United States or
transcends national boundaries in terms of the means by which it is
accomplished, the persons intended to be intimidated or coerced, or the
locale in which the perpetrator operates or seeks asylum.]
[A "drug-trafficking crime" means any felony punishable under the
Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. § 801 et seq., the Controlled
Substances Import and Export Act, 21 U.S.C. 951 et seq., or chapter 705
of title 46 of the United States Code.]
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 1544 provides:
Whoever willfully and knowingly uses, or attempts to use, any passport
issued or designed for the use of another; or
Whoever willfully and knowingly uses or attempts to use any passport in
violation of the conditions or restrictions therein contained, or of the
rules prescribed pursuant to the laws regulating the issuance of
passports; or
Whoever willfully and knowingly furnishes, disposes of, or delivers a
passport to any person, for use by another than the person for whose use
it was originally issued and designed . . . .
Maximum Penalty: Ten (10) years imprisonment, applicable fine, or both.
If the offense was committed to facilitate a drug trafficking crime,
twenty (20) years imprisonment, applicable fine, or both. If the offense
was committed to facilitate an act of international terrorism, twentyfive (25) years imprisonment, applicable fine, or both.
The optional fourth element is included in order to comply with Apprendi
v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) where the indictment alleges facts
triggering the enhanced penalty under the statute.
O61

O75.2
RICO - Conspiracy Offense
18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)
It's a Federal crime for anyone associated with an enterprise whose
activities involve or affect interstate commerce to participate in
conducting the activities of the enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity.
The meaning of certain terms and an explanation of what the
Government must prove for this crime are in the instructions covering
Count _____ of the indictment.
The Defendants named in Count _____ of the indictment - the
conspiracy count - are not charged with violating Section 1962(c). They
are charged with willfully and knowingly conspiring to violate that law.
by [insert alleged racketeering acts]. Conspiracy is a separate crime,
and violates Section 1962(d).
A "conspiracy" is an agreement by two or more persons to commit an
unlawful act. In other words, it is a kind of partnership for criminal
purposes. Every member of the conspiracy becomes the agent or partner of
every other member.
The Government does not have to prove that all the people named in
the indictment were members of the plan, or that those who were members
made any kind of formal agreement. The heart of a conspiracy is the
making of the unlawful plan itself, so the Government does not have to
prove that the conspirators succeeded in carrying out the plan.
An "enterprise" includes legal entities such as any partnership,
corporation, or association. It also includes a non-legal entity that is
a group of people associated for a common purpose of engaging in a course
of conduct.
"Racketeering activity" includes any acts that violate [cite
relevant statute(s), e.g. Title 18 of the United States Code relating to
mail fraud (Section 1341) and wire fraud (Section 1343)].
A "pattern of racketeering activity" means that at least two acts of
racketeering activity were committed within ten (10) years. At least one
of the acts must have occurred after October 15, 1970.
The Defendant can be found guilty only if all the following facts
are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) two or more people agreed to try to accomplish an unlawful plan to
engageparticipate in the affairs of an enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity;
(2(2) that the unlawful plan affected interstate commerce;
(3) the Defendant knowingly and willfully joined in the conspiracy; and
(3(4) when the Defendant joined in the agreement, the Defendant had the
specific intent either to personally participate in committing at least
two other acts of racketeering, or else to participate in the
enterprise's affairs, knowing that other members of the conspiracy would
commit at least two other acts of racketeering and intending to help them
as part of a pattern of racketeering activity.

A person may be a conspirator even without knowing all the details
of the unlawful plan or the names and identities of all the other alleged
conspirators.
If the Defendant played only a minor part in the plan but had a
general understanding of the unlawful purpose of the plan - and willfully
joined in the plan on at least one occasion - that's sufficient for you
to find the Defendant guilty.
But simply being present at the scene of an event or merely
associating with certain people and discussing common goals and interests
doesn't establish proof of a conspiracy. Also, a person who doesn't know
about a conspiracy but happens to act in a way that advances some purpose
of one doesn't automatically become a conspirator.
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) provides:
It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any of
the provisions of subsections (a), (b) or (c) of this section.
Maximum Penalty: Twenty (20) years imprisonment and applicable fine, and
forfeiture of certain property. Life imprisonment if the violation is
based on racketeering activity for which the maximum penalty includes
life imprisonment. (The jury must find that defendant committed such a
predicate act beyond a reasonable doubt. See United States v. Nguyen, 255
F.3d 1335 (11th Cir. 2001) (applying Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466
(2000)).
United States v. Browne, 505 F.3d 1229, 1257 (11th Cir. 2007) (quoting
United States v. Starrett, 55 F.3d 1525, 1541 (11th Cir.1995)) (In order
to establish a RICO conspiracy, the government must prove: "(1) that an
enterprise existed; (2) that the enterprise affected interstate commerce;
(3) that the defendants were employed by or associated with the
enterprise; (4) that the defendants participated, either directly or
indirectly, in the conduct of the enterprise; and (5) that the defendants
participated through a pattern of racketeering activity.").
United States v. To, 144 F.3d 737 (11th Cir. 1998) (discusses 'single
objective' and
'overall objective' RICO conspiracy theories); see also United States v.
Beale, 921 F.2d 1412 (11th Cir. 1991) (discusses the alternate methods of
proving a RICO conspiracy).
Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 63, 118 S. Ct. 469, 476 139 L. Ed.
2d 352 (1997) (finding that no overt act is required under the RICO
conspiracy statute); see also United States v. Starrett, 55 F.3d 1525
(11th Cir. 1995) (observing that no overt act is required under §
1962(d)).
The committee believes that the general definition of "willfully" in
Basic Instruction 9.1A would usually apply to this crime.
O76.1
Bank Robbery
18 U.S.C. § 2113(a)
(Subsection (a) Only)

It's a Federal crime to take [or to attempt to take] from or in the
presence of another person [by force and violence] [by intimidation] any
property or money possessed by a federally insured [bank] [credit union]
[savings-and- Loan association]. This crime is called bank robbery.
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant knowingly took [or attempted to take] money or property
possessed by a federally insured [bank] [credit union] [savings-and-loan
association] from or in the presence of the person described in the
indictment; and
(2) the Defendant did so [by means of force and violence] [by means of
intimidation].
[A "federally insured bank" means any bank whose deposits are
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.]
[A "federally insured credit union" means any Federal credit union
and any State-chartered credit union whose accounts are insured by the
National Credit
Union Administration Board.]
[A "federally insured savings and loan association" means any
savings-andloan association whose deposits are insured by the Federal
Savings-and-Loan
Insurance Corporation.]
[To take "by means of intimidation" is to say or do something in a
way that would make an ordinary person fear bodily harm.
The heart of the crime is taking money or property by using
intimidation. It doesn't matter whether the victim was actually scared or
whether the Defendant's behavior was violent enough to cause terror,
panic, or hysteria as long as an ordinary person in the victim's position
would have felt a threat of bodily harm by the Defendant's conduct.]
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 2113(a) provides:
Whoever, by force and violence, or by intimidation, takes, or attempts
to take, from the person or presence of another... any property or
money... belonging to... or in the possession of, any bank, credit union,
or any savings-and-loan association [shall be guilty of an offense
against the United States].
Maximum Penalty: Twenty (20) years imprisonment and applicable fine.
The statute creates various modes of committing the offense (force and
violence or intimidation) (assault or use of a dangerous weapon) and care
must be taken in adapting the instruction to the allegations of the
indictment. See United States v. Bizzard, 615 F.2d 1080 (5th Cir. 1980).
In Carter v. United States, 530 U.S. 255, 120 S. Ct. 2159 (2000), the
court held that the bank larceny provision of § 2113(b) is not a lesser
included offense of § 2113(a).

In United States v. King, 178 F.3d 1376 (11th Cir. 1999), the court held,
in a prosecution under § 2113(b), that money being transferred in a
contractor's armored vehicle from a bank to the Federal Reserve was money
still "in the care, custody, control, management or possession" of the
bank because the bank retained legal title to the funds.
In United States v. Mitchell, 146 F.3d 1338 (11th Cir. 1998), the court
upheld arguably inconsistent verdicts finding the Defendant guilty under
§ 2113(d) (armed bank robbery), but acquitting him under § 924(c)
(carrying a firearm during a crime of violence). "Intimidation" occurs
"when an ordinary person in the teller's position reasonably could infer
a threat of bodily harm from the defendant's acts." United States v.
Kelley, 412 F.3d
1240, 1244 (11th Cir. 2005). "Whether a particular act constitutes
intimidation is viewed objectively." Id. The defendant need not intend
for the act to be intimidating. Id.
A taking "from the person or in the presence of another" occurs when the
money or property is "so within [the victim's] reach, inspection,
observation or control, that [the victim] could if not overcome by
violence or prevented by fear, retain his possession of it." Kelley, 412
F.3d 1240, 1244 (11th Cir. 2005). "Whether a particular act constitutes
intimidation is viewed objectively." Id. The defendant need not intend
for the act to be intimidating. Id.
A taking "from the person or in the presence of another" occurs when the
money or property is "so within [the victim's] reach, inspection,
observation or control, that [the victim] could if not overcome by
violence or prevented by fear, retain his possession of it." United
States v. Kelley, 412 F.3d 1240, 1246 (11th Cir. 2005).

O82.1
Advertising Child Pornography
18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)
It's a Federal crime for any person to make, print, or publish, or
cause to be made, printed, or published, any notice or advertisement
seeking or offering [to receive, exchange, buy, produce, display,
distribute, or reproduce, any visual depiction, if the production of such
visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually
explicit conduct and such visual depiction is of such conduct]
[participation in any act of sexually explicit conduct by or with any
minor for the purpose of producing a visual depiction of such conduct],
if [such person knows or has reason to know such notice or advertisement
will be transported using any means or facility of interstate or foreign
commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means
including by computer or mailed] or [such notice or advertisement is
transported using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce
or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means including
by computer or mailed].
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant knowingly [made] [printed] [published] [[caused to be
[made] [printed] [published]] a [[notice] [advertisement]]
[[seeking] [offering]];
(2) to [receive] [exchange] [buy] [produce] [display] [distribute]
[reproduce] any visual depiction involving the use of a minor engaged in
sexually explicit conduct, and the visual depiction is of such conduct;
or
(3) participation in any act of sexually explicit conduct by or with any
minor for the purpose of producing a visual depiction of such conduct;
and
(4) the Defendant [knows] [has reason to know] the [notice]
[advertisement] would be transported [using any means or facility of
interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign
commerce] by any means, including by computer or mailed; or
(5) such [notice] [advertisement] [was transported using any means or
facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate
or foreign commerce] by any means, including by computer or mailed.
The term "minor" means any person who is less than 18 years old.
The term "interstate or foreign commerce" means the movement of a
person or property from one state to another state or from one state to
another country. The term "State" includes a State of the United States,
the District of
Columbia, and any commonwealth, territory, or possession of the United
States.
[It is not necessary for the Government to prove the Defendant knew the
[notice]
[advertisement] had moved in interstate or foreign commerce.]
The term "visual depiction" includes undeveloped film and videotape,
and data stored on a computer disk or by any other electronic means that
can be converted into a visual image.
The term "sexually explicit conduct" means actual or simulated:
(a) sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oralgenital, analgenital, or oral-anal, whether between persons of the same or opposite
sex;

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

bestiality;
masturbation;
sadistic or masochistic abuse; or
lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic area of any person.

The
term "computer" means
an
electronic,
magnetic,
optical,
electrochemical, or other high-speed data-processing device performing
logical, arithmetic, or storage functions, and includes any data-storage
facility or communications facility directly related to or operating in
conjunction with that device; but the term does not include an automated
typewriter or typesetter, a portable hand-held calculator, or similar
devices that are limited in function to only word-processing or
mathematical calculations.
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 2251(d) provides:
(1) Any person who, in a circumstance described in paragraph (2),
knowingly makes, prints, or publishes, or causes to be made, printed, or
published, any notice or advertisement seeking or offering (A) to receive, exchange, buy, produce, display, distribute, or
reproduce, any visual depiction, if the production or such visual
depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit
conduct and such visual depiction is of such conduct; or
(B) participation in any act of sexually explicit conduct by or with any
minor for the purpose of producing a visual depiction of such conduct;
shall be punished as provided under subsection (e).
(2) The circumstance referred to in paragraph (1) is that (A) such person knows or has reason to know that such notice or
advertisement will be transported using any means or facility of
interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign
commerce by any means including by computer or mailed; or
(B) such notice or advertisement is transported using any means or
facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting foreign
commerce by any means including by computer or mailed.
Maximum Penalty: Thirty (30) years' (minimum of fifteen (15)
years') imprisonment and applicable fine when Defendant has no prior
conviction. Minimum of twenty-five (25) years' imprisonment and maximum
of fifty (50) years' imprisonment when the Defendant has one prior
conviction. Minimum of thirty-five (35) years' imprisonment and maximum
of life imprisonment when the Defendant has two or more prior
convictions.
Definition of the relevant terms is taken from 18 U.S.C. § 2256.
"A defendant who allegedly took no directorial, editorial, or
managerial role when he filmed minors engaged in explicit sexual conduct,
or did not intend that the photographs be disseminated commercially,
nonetheless "produces" child pornography, within the meaning of the
statute prohibiting production of child pornography because Congress'
intention was to enact a broad definition of "producing" that encompassed
the various means by which an individual might actively participate in
the creation and distribution of child pornography." United States v.
Fadl, 498 F.3d 862, 867 (8th Cir. 2007).
In United States v. Grovo, 826 F.3d 1207, 1217 (9th Cir. 2016), the
court rejected the defendants' argument an advertisement for child
pornography must be published in the press or broadcast over the air, or

be otherwise publicly and generally known. "The means of publication or
broadcast are not the definitive features of an 'advertisement,' so long
as the advertisement calls attention to its subject or makes a particular
thing known. We therefore hold that an advertisement need not
necessarily be published in the press or broadcast over the air." Id. at
1217-18. The court held "advertising to a particular subset of the
public is sufficient to sustain a conviction under the statute." Id. at
1218. See also United States v. Franklin, 785 F.3d 1365, 1369 (10th Cir.
2015) (concluding even if "advertisement" in section 2251(d) has a
"public" component, that component may be construed to encompass a
"subset of the public," such as "an informal group of like-minded
individuals").
Neither knowledge of the age of the minor nor knowledge of the
interstate nexus is a required element of the crime. United States v.
Deverso, 518 F.3d 1250, 1257 (11th Cir. 2008); United States v. Smith,
459 U.S. 1276, 1289 (11th Cir. 2006). In Deverso, the Eleventh Circuit
found that the trial court did not err in declining to give a "mistake of
age defense" jury instruction. Deverso, 518 F.3d at 1257.
In United States v. Smith, 459 F.3d 1276, 1296 n.17 (11th Cir.
2006), the Eleventh Circuit noted that the district court instructed the
jury that answering the question whether conduct was "lascivious
exhibition" involved consideration of "whether the setting of the
depiction is such as to make it appear to be sexually inviting or
suggestive, for example in a location or in a pose associated with sexual
activity... and whether the depiction has been designed to elicit a
sexual response in the viewer."
The Eleventh Circuit quoted the dictionary definition of
"lascivious" as "exciting sexual desires; salacious." United States v.
Williams, 444 F.3d 1286, 1299 (11th Cir. 2006), rev'd on other grounds,
553 U.S. 285, 128 S. Ct. 1830 (2008). The court also noted: "What exactly
constitutes a forbidden "lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic
area" and how that differs from an innocuous photograph of a naked child
(e.g., a family photograph of a child taking a bath, or an artistic
masterpiece portraying a naked child model) is not concrete... While the
pictures needn't always be "dirty" or even nude depictions to qualify,
screening materials through the eyes of a neutral fact finder limits the
potential universe of objectionable images." Id. The court further noted
that most lower courts have embraced the six-factor "lascivious
exhibition" test articulated in United States v. Dost, 636 F. Supp. 828,
832 (S.D. Cal. 1986):
(1)whether the focal point of the visual depiction is on the child's
genitalia or pubic area;
(2) whether the setting of the visual depiction is sexually suggestive,
i.e., in a place or pose generally associated with sexual activity;
(3) whether the child is depicted in an unnatural pose, or in
inappropriate attire, considering the age of the child;
(4) whether the child is fully or partially clothed, or nude;
(5) whether the visual depiction suggests sexual coyness or a willingness
to engage in sexual activity;
(6) whether the visual depiction is intended or designed to elicit a
sexual response in the viewer.
The Dost court also observed that "a visual depiction need not
involve all of these factors to be a 'lascivious exhibition of the
genitals or pubic area.' The determination will have to be made based on

the overall content of the visual depiction, taking into account the age
of the minor." Id.
The Eleventh Circuit has held that producing a visual depiction
need only be a purpose of the sexually explicit conduct; it need not be
the sole or dominant purpose. United States v. Miller, 819 F.3d 1314
(11th Cir. 2016); United States v. Lebowitz, 676 F.3d 1000 (11th Cir.
2012).

O92.3
Attempted Coercion and Enticement of a Minor
to Engage in Sexual Activity
18 U.S.C. § 2422(b)
It is
It's a Federal crime for anyone, using [the mail] [or] any
facility [or means] of interstate or foreign commerce [including a
cellular telephone or the Internet], to attempt to [persuade] [induce]
[entice] [coerce] a minor to engage in [prostitution] [any sexual
activity for which any person could be charged with a criminal offense],
even if the attempt fails.
The Defendant is charged in [Count(s)] with attempting to commit the
offense of enticement of a minor.
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all of the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant knowingly intended to persuade, induce, entice, or
coerce [individual named in the indictment] to engage in
[prostitution] [sexual activity], as charged;
(2) the Defendant used [the mail] [the Internet] [a cellular telephone]
[describe other facility of interstate or foreign commerce as alleged in
indictment] to do so;
(3) at the time, the Defendant believed that [individual named in the
indictment] was less than 18 years old;
(4) if the sexual activity had occurred, one or more of the individual(s)
engaging in sexual activity could have been charged with a criminal
offense under the law of [identify the state or specify the United
States] [If only prostitution is charged, delete this element.]; and
(5) the Defendant took a substantial step towards committing the offense.
It is not necessary for the Government to prove that the intended
victim was in fact less than 18 years of age; but it is necessary for the
Government to prove that Defendant believed such individual to be under
that age.
Also, it is not necessary for the Government to prove that the
individual was actually [persuaded] [or induced] [or enticed] [or
coerced] to engage in [prostitution or] sexual activity; but it is
necessary for the Government to prove that the Defendant intended to
cause agreement on the part of the individual to engage in [prostitution
or] some form of unlawful sexual activity with the individual and
knowingly took some action that was a substantial step toward bringing
about or engagingcausing agreement on the part of the individual to
engage in that [prostitution or] some form of unlawful sexual activity.
A "substantial step" is an important action leading up to committing an
offense - not just an inconsequential act. It must be more than simply
preparing. It must be an act that would normally result in the
persuasion, inducement, enticement, or coercion.
So, the Government must prove that if the intended sexual activity
had occurred, one or more of the individuals engaging in the sexual
activity could have been charged with a criminal offense under the laws
of [state] [the United States].

As a matter of law, the following acts are crimes under [state] [federal]
law. [Describe the applicable state or federal law]. [If only
prostitution is charged, delete this paragraph.]
[As used in this instruction, "induce" means to stimulate the
occurrence of or to cause.]
[As used in this instruction, the term "prostitution" means engaging
in or agreeing or offering to engage in any lewd act with or for another
person in exchange for money or other consideration.]
[[A telephone] [A cellular telephone] [The Internet] is a facility
of interstate commerce.]
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 USC § 2422(b) provides:
(b) Whoever, using the mail or any facility or means of interstate
or foreign commerce, or within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States knowingly persuades, induces, entices,
or coerces any individual who has not attained the age of 18 years, to
engage in prostitution or any sexual activity for which any person can be
charged with a criminal offense, or attempts to do so, shall be fined
under this title and imprisoned not less than 10 years or for life.
Maximum Penalty: Life imprisonment and applicable fine. Minimum
sentence is ten (10) years of imprisonment and applicable fine. 18
U.S.C. § 3559 provides for a mandatory life sentence for repeated sex
offenses against children. This offense also carries a minimum of five
years of supervised release up to a maximum of lifetime supervised
release.
United States v. Lee, 603 F.3d 904, 917 (11th Cir. 2010) ("We have
explained what the government must establish to prove a violation of
section 2422(b) when a defendant communicates directly with the target
minor. With regard to intent, the government must prove that the
defendant intended to cause assent on the part of the minor, not that he
acted with the specific intent to engage in sexual activity. With regard
to conduct, the government must prove that the defendant took a
substantial step toward causing assent, not toward causing actual sexual
contact. Section 2422(b) expressly proscribes . . . the persuasion,
inducement, enticement, or coercion of a minor to engage in illicit
sexual activity, and not the sexual activity itself. The statute
criminalizes an intentional attempt to achieve a mental state-a minor's
assent.") (citations and internal punctuation omitted).
United States v. Murrell, 368 F.3d 1283, 1286 (11th Cir. 2004)
("Combining the definition of attempt with the plain language of §
2422(b), the government must first prove that [the defendant], using the
internet, acted with a specific intent to persuade, induce, entice, or
coerce a minor to engage in unlawful sex. The underlying criminal
conduct that Congress expressly proscribed in passing § 2422(b) is the
persuasion, inducement, enticement, or coercion of the minor rather than
the sex act itself. That is, if a person persuaded a minor to engage in
sexual conduct (e.g. with himself or a third party), without then
actually committing any sex act himself, he would nevertheless violate §
2422(b).") (internal footnotes omitted).

United States v. Root, 296 F.3d 1222, 1227 (11th Cir. 2002) (superseded
by statute on other grounds); United States v. Farley, 607 F.3d 1294
(11th Cir. 2010). An
The existence of an actual minor victim is not
required for an attempt conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b), it is
sufficient that so long as the defendant believed that a minor was
involved.
18 U.S.C. § 2260A provides for an enhanced sentence for persons
requiredintended to register as sex offenders. 18 U.S.C. § 2426 provides
that the maximum sentence for a repeat offender under chapter 117 is
twice the term otherwise provided by the chapter. 18 U.S.C. § 3559
provides for mandatory life imprisonment for repeated sex offenses
against children.
The cause assent on the part of a minor and took a substantial step
toward causing assent, not toward causing actual sexual contact. United
States v. Jockisch, 857 F.3d 1122, 1129 (11th Cir. 2017). In addition,
the defendant need not communicate directlycan be convicted under §
2422(b) even though he only communicated with the minor; it is sufficient
if the defendant induces (or attempts to induce) the minor via an adult
intermediary. United States v. Hornaday, 392Lee, 603 F.3d 1306, 131011904, 912 (11th Cir. 2004);2010).
United States v. Murrell, 368 F.3d 1283, 1287 (11th Cir. 2004).
In Murrell, the Eleventh
Circuit also approved "to stimulate the occurrence of; cause" as the
definition of
"induce."
The Internet is an instrumentality of interstate commerce. United States
v. Hornaday, 392 F.3d 1306, 1311 (11th Cir. 2004). Telephones and
cellular telephones are instrumentalities of interstate commerce, even
when they are used intrastate. United States v. Evans, 476 F.3d 1176,
1180-81 (11th Cir. 2007).
The term "prostitution" is not defined in Title 18. The Supreme
Court has defined the term as the "offering of the body to indiscriminate
lewdness for hire." Cleveland v. United States, 329 U.S. 14, 17 (1946).
The term should not be defined by reference to state law, as doing so
would make the term superfluous, since the statute already punishes "any
sexual activity for which any person can be charged with a criminal
offense."
The term "sexual activity for which any person can be charged with a
criminal offense" includes the production of child pornography, as
defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2256(8). 18 U.S.C. § 2427.

O96.4
Conspiracy to Encourage or Induce Aliens to Enter the United States
8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)(v)(I)
Title 8, United States Code, Section 1324 (a)(1)(A)(v)(I), makes it
a crime for anyone to conspire with someone else to encourage or induce
aliens to come to, enter, or reside in the United States, knowing and in
reckless disregard of the fact that such coming to, entry, and residence
is and will be in violation of the law.
A conspiracy is an agreement by two or more persons to commit an
unlawful act. In other words, it is a kind of partnership for criminal
purposes. Every member of the conspiracy becomes the agent or partner of
every other member.
The Government does not have to prove that all the people named in
the indictment were members of the plan, or that those who were members
made any kind of formal agreement. The heart of a conspiracy is the
making of the unlawful plan itself, so the Government does not have to
prove that the conspirators succeeded in carrying out the plan.
The Defendant can be found guilty only if all the following facts
are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
First: The defendant and one or more persons in some way agreed to try to
accomplish a shared and unlawful plan;
Second: The defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the plan and willfully
joined in it; and
Third: The object of the conspiracy was to encourage or induce an alien
to come to, enter, or reside in the United States, knowing or in reckless
disregard of the fact that such coming to, entry, and residence was or
would be in violation of law.
A person may be a conspirator even without knowing all the details
of the unlawful plan or the names and identities of all the other alleged
conspirators.
If the Defendant played only a minor part in the plan but had a
general understanding of the unlawful purpose of the plan - and willfully
joined the plan on at least one occasion - that is sufficient for you to
find the Defendant guilty.
But simply being present at the scene of an event or merely
associating with certain people and discussing common goals and interests
does not establish proof of conspiracy. Also, a person who does not know
about a conspiracy but happens to act in a way that advances some purpose
of one does not automatically become a conspirator.
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)(v)(I) provides:
Any person who 2
(i) knowing that a person is an alien, brings or attempts to bring to the
United States in any manner whatsoever such person at a place other than
a designated port of entry or place other than as designated by the
Commissioner, regardless of whether such alien has received prior
official authorization to come to, enter, or reside in the United States
and regardless of any future official action which may be taken with
respect to such alien;
(ii) knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that an alien has come
to, entered, or remains in the United States in violation of law,
transports, or moves or attempts to transport or move such alien within

the United States by means of transportation or otherwise, in furtherance
of such violation of law;
(iii) knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that an alien has come
to, entered, or remains in the United States in violation of law,
conceals, harbors, or shields from detection, or attempts to conceal,
harbor, or shield from detection, such alien in any place, including any
building or any means of transportation;
(iv) encourages or induces an alien to come to, enter, or reside in the
United States, knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that such
coming to, entry, or residence is or will be in violation of law; or
(v)(I) engages in any conspiracy to commit any of the preceding acts, or
(II) aids or abets the commission of any of the preceding acts, shall be
[guilty of an offense against the United States].
Maximum Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment and applicable fine.
The Supreme Court has held that a conspiracy requires proof of an overt
act only when explicitly stated in the statute's text. See United States
v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10, 13 (1994). Although the Eleventh Circuit has not
yet held section 1324 (a)(1)(A)(v)(I) does not require proof of an overt
act, other circuits have so decided. United States v. PascacioRodriguez, 749 F.3d 353, 363 (5th Cir. 2014); United States v. TorralbaMendia, 784 F.3d 652, 663 (9th Cir. 2015).

O98
Controlled Substances Possession with Intent to Distribute
21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1)
It's a Federal crime for anyone to possess a controlled substance with
intent
to distribute it.
[substance] is a "controlled substance."
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant knowingly possessed [substance];
and
(2) the Defendant intended to distribute the [substance]; and
(3) the weight of the [substance] Defendant possessed was more than
[threshold].
].
The Defendant "knowingly" possessed the controlled substance if (1)
the Defendant knew [he][she] possessed a substance listed on the federal
schedules of controlled substances, even if the Defendant did not know
the identity of the substance, or (2) the Defendant knew the identity of
the substance [he][she] possessed, even if the Defendant did not know the
substance was listed on the federal schedules of controlled substances.
To "intend to distribute" is to plan to deliver possession of a
controlled substance to someone else, even if nothing of value is
exchanged.
[The Defendant[s] [is] [are] charged with [distributing] [possessing
and intending to distribute] at least [threshold] of [substance]. But you
may find [the]
[any] Defendant guilty of the crime even if the amount of the controlled
substance[s] for which [he] [she] should be held responsible is less than
[threshold]. So if you find [the] [any] Defendant guilty, you must also
unanimously agree on the weight of [substance] the Defendant possessed
and specify the amount on the verdict form.]
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
21 U.S.C. § 841(a) provides:
... it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally
(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with the
intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance;
or
(2) to create, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to
distribute or dispense, a counterfeit substance.
Following the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Apprendi v. New Jersey,
530 U.S. 466
(2000), the Eleventh Circuit has interpreted § 841 to provide "a clear
dichotomy of offense elements and sentencing factors. Specifically, the
plain language and structure of the statute reflect a congressional
intent to create a single offense, defined in § 841(a), and to provide
for penalties in § 841(b) dependent upon sentencing factors, such as drug
types and quantities." United States v. Sanchez, 269 F.3d 1250, 1265

(11th Cir. 2001) (en banc), abrogated in part on other grounds, United
States v. Duncan, 400 F.3d 1297, 1308
(11th Cir. 2005). The "elements of a § 841 offense do not include the
weight of the drugs." Id. at 1267 (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted). However, when drug quantity is charged in an indictment and
may result in a sentence that "exceeds the catchall statutory maximum
penalty" in § 841(b), the amount of drugs must be "proven to a jury
beyond a reasonable doubt in light of Apprendi." Id. at 1277-79
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted); see also United States
v. Underwood, 446 F.3d 1340, 1344, 1345 (11th Cir. 2006) (citations
omitted). In such a case, the bracketed language in this instruction
concerning weights should be made a part of the overall instructions,
followed by use of the special verdict form below.
In McFadden v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2298 (2015), the U.S. Supreme
Court pronounced that there are two ways to satisfy the knowledge
requirement under § 841(a)(1). "Th[e] knowledge requirement may be met
by showing that the defendant knew he possessed a substance listed on the
schedules, even if he did not know which substance it was." Id. at 2304.
"The knowledge requirement may also be met by showing that the defendant
knew the identity of the substance he possessed," even if the defendant
did not know that the drug is "listed on the schedules" as a controlled
substance. Id. (citation omitted).
The Committee has omitted the word "willfully" which was previously used
in this instruction. "Willfully" is not used in the statute, and the
essence of the offense is a knowing possession of a controlled substance
with an intent to distribute it.
The Committee recognizes and cautions that sentence enhancing factors
subject to the principle of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.
Ct. 2348 (2000), including weights of controlled substances under 21
U.S.C. § 841(b), are not necessarily "elements" creating separate
offenses for purposes of analysis in a variety of contexts.
See United States v. Sanchez, 269 F.3d 1250, 1278 n.51 (11th Cir. 2001),
abrogated in part, United States v. Duncan, 400 F.3d 1297, 1308 (11th
Cir. 2005); see also United States v. Underwood, 446 F.3d 1340, 1344-45
(11th Cir. 2006). Even so, the lesser included offense model is an
appropriate and convenient procedural mechanism for purposes of
submitting sentence enhancers to a jury when required by the principle of
Apprendi. This would be especially true in simpler cases involving single
Defendants. See Special Instruction 10 and the verdict form provided in
the Annotations And Comments following that instruction. If the lesser
included offense approach is followed, using Special Instruction 10 and
its verdict form, then the bracketed language in this instruction
explaining the significance of weights and the use of a special verdict
form specifying weights, should be deleted.
Alternatively, in more complicated cases, if the bracketed language in
this instruction concerning weights is made a part of the overall
instructions, followed by use of the special verdict form below, then the
Third element of the instructions defining the offense should be deleted.
The following is a form of special verdict that may be used in such
cases.
Special Verdict
Special Verdict
1. We, the Jury, find the Defendant [name of Defendant] _____ as charged
in Count [One] of the indictment.

[Note: If you find the Defendant not guilty as charged in Count
[One], you need not consider paragraph 2 below.]
2. We, the Jury, having found the Defendant guilty of the offense
charged in Count [One], further find with respect to that Count that [he]
[she] [distributed] [possessed with intent to distribute] [conspired to
possess with intent to distribute] the following controlled substance[s]
in the amount[s] shown (place an X in the appropriate box[es]):
[(a) Marijuana - (i)
Weighing 1000 kilograms or more ? (ii) Weighing 100 kilograms or
more ? (iii) Weighing less than 100 kilograms
kilogram
[(b) Cocaine - - ?] (i)
Weighing 5 kilograms or more ? (ii) Weighing
500 grams or more ? (iii) Weighing less than 500 grams
[(c) Cocaine base ("crack" cocaine) - - ?] (i)
Weighing 50 grams or
more ? (ii) Weighing 5 grams or more ? (iii) Weighing less than 5 grams
?] SO SAY WE ALL.
?] Date: ________________ __________________________
__________________________
Foreperson
Multiple sets of the two paragraphs in this Special Verdict form will be
necessary in the event of multiple counts of drug offenses against the
same Defendant.

O117.1
Controlled Substances: Possession on Vessel of the United States
Subject to the Jurisdiction of the United States
46 U.S.C. § 70503(a)

or

It's a Federal crime for anyone [on board a vessel of the United
States] [on board a vessel subject to the jurisdiction of the United
States] to knowingly possess a controlled substance with intent to
distribute it. I instruct you as a matter of law that the vessel
involved in this case [is a vessel of the United States][is subject to
the jurisdiction of the United States].
[Substance] is a controlled substance within the meaning of the law.
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if each of the
following facts is proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant was [on board a vessel of the United States] [on board
a vessel subject to the jurisdiction of the United States];
the vessel involved in this case;
(2) the Defendant knowingly possessed [substance];
(3) the Defendant intended to distribute the [substance];].; and
(4) the weight of the [substance] was more than [threshold].
I instruct you as a matter of law that the vessel involved in this
case [is a vessel of the United States][is subject to the jurisdiction of
the United States].
To "possess with intent to distribute" means to knowingly have
something while intending to deliver or transfer it to someone else, even
with no financial interest in the transaction.
[The Defendant[s] [is] [are] charged in the indictment with
[distributing]
[possessing with intent to distribute] a certain quantity or weight of
the alleged controlled substance[s]. But you may find [the] [any]
Defendant guilty of the offense if the quantity of the controlled
substance[s] for which [he] [she] should be held responsible is less than
the amount or weight charged. Thus the verdict form prepared with respect
to [the] [each] Defendant, as I will explain in a moment, will require
that if you find [the] [any] Defendant guilty, you must specify on the
verdict your unanimous finding concerning the weight of the controlled
substance attributable to the Defendant].
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
The Maritime Drug Law Enforcement Act ("MDLEA") prohibits knowingly or
intentionally possessing a controlled substance, with intent to
distribute, onboard any vessel subject to the jurisdiction of the United
States.
46 U.S.C. § 70502(b) provides that a vessel of the United States means:
(1) a vessel documented under chapter 121 of this title or numbered as
provided in chapter 123 of this title;

(2) a vessel owned in any part by an individual who is a citizen of
the United States, the United States Government, the government of a
State or political subdivision of a State, or a corporation incorporated
under the laws of the United
States or of a State, unless-(A) the vessel has been granted the nationality of a foreign nation
under article 5 of the 1958 Convention on the High Seas; and
(B) a claim of nationality or registry for the vessel is made by the
master or individual in charge at the time of the enforcement action by
an officer or employee of the United States who is authorized to enforce
applicable provisions of United States law; and
(3) a vessel that was once documented under the laws of the United States
and, in violation of the laws of the United States, was sold to a person
not a citizen of the United States, placed under foreign registry, or
operated under the authority of a foreign nation, whether or not the
vessel has been granted the nationality of a foreign nation.
46 U.S.C. § 70502(c)(1) provides that a vessel subject to the
jurisdiction of the United States includes:
(A) a vessel without nationality;
(B) a vessel assimilated to a vessel without nationality under
paragraph (2) of article 6 of the 1958 Convention on the High Seas;
(C) a vessel registered in a foreign nation if that nation has
consented or waived objection to the enforcement of United States law by
the United States;
(D) a vessel in the customs waters of the United States;
(E) a vessel in the territorial waters of a foreign nation if the
nation consents to the enforcement of United States law by the United
States; and
(F) a vessel in the contiguous zone of the United States, as defined in
Presidential
Proclamation 7219 of September 2, 1999 (43 U.S.C. 1331 note), that-(i) is entering the United States;
(ii) has departed the United States; or
(iii) is a hovering vessel as defined in section 401 of the Tariff Act
of 1930 (19 U.S.C. 1401).
The MDLEA provides that the United States' jurisdiction over a vessel is
not an element of the offense, and that the jurisdiction is a preliminary
question of law to be resolved by the district court. 46 U.S.C. §
70504(a) ("Jurisdiction of the United States with respect to a vessel
subject to this chapter is not an element of an offense. Jurisdictional
issues arising under this chapter are preliminary questions of law to be
determined solely by the trial judge."). Because the jurisdictional
requirement under the MDLEA is not an element of the offense, neither the
Due Process Clause notnor the Sixth Amendment are implicated when the
jurisdictional requirement is not proven to the satisfaction of a jury.
United States v. Cruickshank, __837 F.3d __1182, 1192 (11th Cir. Sept.
20, 2016); United States v. Campbell, 743 F.3d 802 (11th Cir. 2014), cert
denied 135 S. Ct. 704 (2014). See also United States v. Tinoco, 304 F.3d
1088, 1110 (11th Cir. 2002) ("We have rejected the argument that a jury
must determine jurisdiction under the Act.").

Maximum Penalty: Varies depending upon nature and weight of substance
involved. See 21 U.S.C. § 960.
The offense of Possession of a Controlled Substance on a United States
Vessel in Customs Waters, formerly codified at 21 U.S.C. § 955a(c) is now
codified as part of 46
U.S.C. § 1903 by virtue of Congress including "a vessel located within
the customs waters of the United States" as part of the definition for a
"vessel subject to jurisdiction of the United States." 46 U.S.C. §
1903(c)(1)(D).
Where the indictment alleges a factor that would enhance the possible
maximum punishment applicable to the offense, that factor should be
stated as an additional element in the instructions under the principle
of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000). In such case it may
also be appropriate to give a lesser included offense instruction,
Special Instruction 10.
The Committee has omitted the word "willfully" which was previously used
in this instruction. "Willfully" is not used in the statute, and the
essence of the offense is a knowing possession of a controlled substance
with an intent to distribute it. The
Committee has concluded that the use of the term "willfully" does not add
clarity or certainty, and relying instead on the words "knowingly" and
"intentionally" more closely comports with the legislative intent.
The Committee recognizes - - and cautions - - that sentence enhancing
factors subject to the principle of Apprendi, including weights of
controlled substances under 21 U.S.C. §
841(b), are not necessarily "elements" creating separate offenses for
purposes of analysis in a variety of contexts. See United States v.
Sanchez, 269 F.3d 1250, 1278 n.51 (11th Cir. 2001), abrogated in part,
United States v. Duncan, 400 F.3d 1297, 1308 (11th Cir. 2005); see also
United States v. Underwood, 446 F.3d 1340, 1344-45 (11th Cir. 2006). Even
so, the lesser included offense model is an appropriate and convenient
procedural mechanism for purposes of submitting sentence enhancers to a
jury when required by the principle of Apprendi. This would be especially
true in simpler cases involving single Defendants. See Special
Instruction 10 and the verdict form provided in the Annotations And
Comments following that instruction. If the lesser included offense
approach is followed, using Special Instruction 10 and its verdict form,
then the bracketed language in this instruction explaining the
significance of weights and the use of a special verdict form specifying
weights, should be deleted.
Alternatively, in more complicated cases, if the bracketed language in
this instruction concerning weights is made a part of the overall
instructions, followed by use of the special verdict form below, then the
Third element of the instructions defining the offense should be deleted.
The following is a form of special verdict that may be used in such
cases.
Special Verdict
Alternatively, in more complicated cases, if the bracketed language in
this instruction concerning weights is made a part of the overall

instructions, followed by use of the special verdict form below, then the
Third element of the instructions defining the offense should be deleted.
The following is a form of special verdict that may be used in such
cases.
Special Verdict
(1.)We, the Jury, find the Defendant [name of Defendant] _____ as
charged in Count [One] of the indictment. [Note: If you find the
Defendant not guilty as charged in Count [One], you need not consider
paragraph 2 below.]
(2.)We, the Jury, having found the Defendant guilty of the offense
charged in Count [One], further find with respect to that Count that [he]
[she] [distributed] [possessed with intent to distribute] [conspired to
possess with intent to distribute] the following controlled substance[s]
in the amount[s] shown (place an X in the appropriate box[es]):
[(a) Marijuana - (i)
Weighing 1000 kilograms or more ? (ii) Weighing 100 kilograms or
more ? ? (iii) Weighing less than 100 kilograms
?]
[(b) Cocaine - ?] (i)
Weighing 5 kilograms or more ?
? (ii) Weighing 500 grams or more ?
? (iii) Weighing less than 500 grams ?]
[(c) Cocaine base ("crack" cocaine) - ?] (i)
Weighing 50 grams or more ?
? (ii) Weighing 5 grams or more
?
? (iii) Weighing less than 5 grams
?]
?] SO SAY WE ALL.
________________
__________________________
Date
Foreperson
Multiple sets of the two paragraphs in this Special Verdict form will be
necessary in the event of multiple counts of drug offenses against the
same Defendant.
Date: ________________
Foreperson

__________________________

Multiple sets of the two paragraphs in this Special Verdict form will be
necessary in the event of multiple counts of drug offenses against the
same Defendant.
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Procurement of Citizenship or Naturalization Unlawfully
18 U.S.C. § 1425
It's a Federal crime for any person to [(a) knowingly procure or
attempt to procure, contrary to law, the naturalization of any person, or
documentary or other evidence of naturalization or citizenship] or [(b)
for himself or another person not entitled thereto, to knowingly issue,
procure, or obtain, or apply for or otherwise attempt to procure or
obtain naturalization, or citizenship, or a declaration of intention to
become a citizen, or a certificate of arrival or any certificate or
evidence of nationalization or citizenship, documentary or otherwise, or
duplicates or copies of any of the foregoing].
The Defendant can be found guilty of a violation of section 1425(a),
only if all the following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant knowingly [procured] [attempted to procure];
(2) contrary to law;
(3) the naturalization of any person, or documentary or other evidence of
naturalization or citizenship[.] [; and]
[(4) the Defendant did so [to facilitate an act of international
terrorism] [to facilitate a drug trafficking crime].]
The Defendant can be found guilty of a violation of section 1425(b),
only if all of the following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:
(1) the Defendant [for himself] [for another person not entitled thereto]
knowingly [issued, procured, obtained, applied for], [attempted to
procure or obtain] [naturalization or citizenship, or a declaration of
intention to become a citizen, or a certificate of arrival or any
certificate or evidence of nationalization or citizenship, documentary or
otherwise, or duplicate copies of the foregoing];
(2) [the Defendant is not entitled to naturalization or citizenship] [the
other person is not entitled to naturalization or citizenship]; and
(3) [the Defendant knows he or she is not entitled to naturalization or
citizenship]; [the Defendant knows the other person is not entitled to
naturalization or citizenship[.] [; and]
[(4) the Defendant did so [to facilitate an act of international
terrorism] [to facilitate a drug trafficking crime].]
[An "act of international terrorism" means (1) a criminal act that
is dangerous to human life, (2) appears to be intended to intimidate or
coerce a civilian population, or to influence the policy of a government
by intimidation or coercion, or to affect the conduct of a government by
assassination or kidnapping, and (3) occurs outside the United States or
transcends national boundaries in terms of the means by which it is
accomplished, the persons intended to be intimidated or coerced, or the
locale in which the perpetrator operates or seeks asylum.]
[A "drug trafficking crime" means any felony punishable under the
Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 801 et seq., the Controlled
Substances Import and Export Act, 21 U.S.C. 951 et seq., or chapter 705
of title 46 of the
United States Code.]
ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 1425 provides:
(a) Whoever knowingly procures or attempts to procure, contrary to law,
the naturalization of any person, or documentary or other evidence of
naturalization or of citizenship; or

(b) Whoever, whether for himself or another person not entitled thereto,
knowingly issues, procures or obtains or applies for or otherwise
attempts to procure or obtain naturalization, or citizenship, or a
declaration of intention to become a citizen, or a certificate of arrival
or any certificate or evidence of nationalization or citizenship,
documentary or otherwise, or duplicates or copies of any of the foregoing
[shall be guilty of an offense against the United States].
Maximum Penalty: Imprisonment of not more than 25 years (if the offense
was committed to facilitate an act of international terrorism (as defined
in section 2331 of this title)), 20 years (if the offense was committed
to facilitate a drug trafficking crime (as defined in section 929(a) of
this title)), 10 years (in the case of the first or second such offense,
if the offense was not committed to facilitate an act of international
terrorism or a drug trafficking crime), or 15 years (in the case of any
other offense), or both; and applicable fine.
The optional Fourth element is included in order to comply with Apprendi
v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), where the indictment alleges facts
triggering the enhanced penalties under the statute.
The definition of "act of international terrorism" is taken from 18
U.S.C. § 2331.
The definition of "drug trafficking crime" is taken from 18 U.S.C. § 929.
In Maslenjak v. United States, - U.S. -, 137 S. Ct. 1918 (2017), the
Supreme Court held that to obtain a conviction under section 1425, the
Government must show an illegal act by the defendant played some role in
his or her acquisition of citizenship. See id. at 1923. "When the
illegal act is a false statement, that means demonstrating that the
defendant lied about facts that would have mattered to an immigration
official, because they would have justified denying naturalization or
would predictably have led to other facts warranting that result." Id.
Furthermore, "the proper causal inquiry under § 1425(a) is framed in
objective terms: To decide whether a defendant acquired citizenship by
means of a lie, a jury must evaluate how knowledge of the real facts
would have affected a reasonable government official properly applying
naturalization law." Id. at 1928.
United States v. Lopez, 704 F.2d 1382 (5th Cir. 1983), held a birth
certificate is "other evidence of citizenship" and its fraudulent
procurement as proof of U.S. citizenship for an alien is proscribed by
section 1425.

